The RATPAC (Randomised Assessment of Treatment using Panel Assay of Cardiac markers) trial: a randomised controlled trial of point-of-care cardiac markers in the emergency department

S Goodacre,^{1*} M Bradburn,¹ P Fitzgerald,¹ E Cross,¹ P Collinson,² A Gray³ and AS Hall⁴

¹School of Health and Related Research, University of Sheffield, Sheffield, UK

²St George's Hospital, London, UK

 ³Royal Infirmary of Edinburgh, Lothian Health Board, Edinburgh, UK
⁴Leeds Institute of Genetics, Health and Therapeutics, University of Leeds, Leeds, UK

*Corresponding author



Executive summary

Health Technology Assessment 2011; Vol. 15: No. 23 DOI: 10.3310/hta15230

Health Technology Assessment NIHR HTA programme www.hta.ac.uk



Executive summary

Background

Patients with acute chest pain require rapid and accurate diagnostic assessment for acute myocardial infarction (AMI). Standard care currently involves hospital admission for measurement of troponin at least 12 hours after worst symptoms. As most patients do not ultimately have AMI this is inconvenient for patients and wastes health-care resources.

Point-of-care biomarker assessment with the combination of creatine kinase MB (mass) [CK-MB (mass)], myoglobin and troponin measured at presentation and 90 minutes later could potentially reduce the need for hospital admission and improve patient care. This combination has been shown to have high sensitivity for AMI, allowing earlier identification than laboratory testing and expedited decision-making. However, existing studies do not reliably tell us whether the panel would alter patient care, improve outcomes or reduce health service costs.

Objectives

We aimed to measure the effect of using a point-of-care cardiac marker panel upon successful discharge home after emergency department (ED) assessment, length of hospital stay, use of coronary care, cardiac tests and treatments, subsequent hospital attendance and/or admission, and major adverse events, and then estimate the cost-effectiveness of the point-of-care panel in terms of mean costs and quality-adjusted life-years (QALYs) accrued compared with standard care.

Methods

We undertook a multicentre pragmatic randomised controlled trial and economic evaluation of a point-of-care cardiac marker panel in the management of patients with acute chest pain in six EDs. We recruited people presenting to hospital with chest pain due to suspected but not proven AMI, and no other potentially serious alternative pathology or comorbidity. Participants were randomly allocated to receive either (1) diagnostic assessment using the point-of-care biochemical marker panel or (2) conventional diagnostic assessment without the panel. All tests and treatments other than the panel were provided at the discretion of the clinician. Data were collected from hospital records and a questionnaire mailed to participants at 1 and 3 months, measuring health and social care resource use, health utility [European Quality of Life-5 Dimensions (EQ-5D)] and satisfaction with care.

The primary outcome was the proportion of patients successfully discharged home after ED assessment, defined as patients who had (1) either left the hospital or were awaiting transport home with a discharge decision having been made at 4 hours after initial presentation and (2) suffered no adverse event (as defined below) during the following 3 months.

Secondary outcomes were (1) length of initial hospital stay and total inpatient days over 3 months; (2) health utility measured using the EQ-5D self-complete questionnaire at 1 and 3 months after attendance; (3) satisfaction with care measured at 1 month after attendance using an 11-question self-complete Likert-scale questionnaire; (4) the proportion of patients admitted to the coronary care unit, receiving cardiac medications or cardiac interventions (such as angiography, percutaneous intervention or bypass grafting); (5) re-attendance at, and/ or re-admission to, hospital and outpatient attendances over the following 3 months; (6) major adverse events (death, non-fatal AMI, life-threatening arrhythmia, emergency revascularisation or hospitalisation for myocardial ischaemia); and (7) the proportion of admitted patients ultimately diagnosed as having AMI by the universal definition.

We planned to recruit 1565 to each arm of the trial to give 80% power to detect a 5% absolute difference in the proportion of patients successfully discharged (55% vs 50%) and a 2% absolute difference in the major adverse event rate (2% vs 4%) at the two-sided significance level of 5%. We estimated that this could be achieved by six hospitals recruiting 550 patients each over 12 months, assuming that 70% of those eligible were recruited. Actual patient recruitment was slower than anticipated and varied between 300 and 400 patients per centre per year of recruitment, with 35% of eligible patients recruited instead of the 70% anticipated. After 1800 patients had been recruited, a futility analysis undertaken by the Data Monitoring Committee at the request of the funders suggested that there were grounds for termination on the basis of futility, with the trial having >99% conditional power to detect a 5% difference in the proportion successfully discharged and <10% power to detect a 2% difference in major adverse events. Recruitment was terminated with 2263 patients recruited.

An economic analysis was undertaken from a health and social care perspective using trial data to estimate the mean cost per patient of chest pain-related care and the mean number of QALYs accrued by patients in each arm of the trial up to 3 months after recruitment. A microcosting study of 30–40 participants at each site was used to obtain precise estimates of the costs of initial diagnostic assessment. The trial analysis was augmented with a decision-analytic model to explore the potential effect of differences in major adverse event rates upon long-term costs and outcomes.

Results

We recruited 2263 participants, of whom 2243 had usable data [mean age 54.5 years, 1307/2243 (58%) male and 269/2243 (12%) with known coronary heart disease (CHD]. In the point-of-care group 358/1125 (32%) were successfully discharged compared with 146/1118 (13%) in the standard-care group [odds ratio (OR) adjusted for age, gender and history of CHD 3.81; 95% confidence interval (CI) 3.01 to 4.82, p < 0.001]. The effect on the primary outcome varied between hospitals with point-of-care panel assessment increasing successful discharges at four hospitals, having no effect at one and decreasing successful discharges at one. The ORs for successful discharge at individual hospitals varied from 0.12 (95% CI 0.01 to 1.03, p = 0.054) to 11.07 (95% CI 6.23 to 19.26, p < 0.001).

Mean length of the initial hospital stay was 29.6 hours in the point-of-care group versus 31.8 hours in the standard-care group (mean difference = 2.1 hours, 95% CI –3.7 to 8.0 hours, p=0.462), while median length of initial hospital stay was 8.8 hours versus 14.2 hours (p < 0.001). More patients in the point-of-care group had no inpatient days recorded during follow-up (54% vs 40%, p < 0.001), but mean inpatient days did not differ between the two groups (1.8 vs 1.7, p=0.815). More patients in the point-of-care group were managed on coronary care [50/1125 (4%) vs 31/1118 (3%), p=0.041].

There were no significant differences between the groups in the proportions receiving glyceryl trinitrate, heparin, glycoprotein inhibitors, antacids or beta-blockers. More patients in the point-of-care group received clopidogrel (21% vs 16%, p = 0.002), while more patients in the standard-care group received aspirin (60% vs 55%, p = 0.031). There were no significant differences in the use of non-biomarker cardiac investigations, cardiac interventions, re-attendances or subsequent

admissions, although there were non-significant trends towards increased use of cardiac interventions with point-of-care that influenced cost analysis. Patients in the point-of-care group were slightly more likely to have a chest pain-related outpatient review (21% vs 18%, p=0.05).

There were no significant differences in mean EQ-5D scores at 1 or 3 months (point-of-care 0.742 vs standard care 0.759 at 1 month, p = 0.614, and 0.752 vs 0.759 at 3 months, p = 0.638). Most patients were satisfied with most aspects of their care, with only a small proportion rating their care as poor. Point-of-care panel assessment was favoured in two of the 10 dimensions (urgency of assessment and personal interest in care) and in the question rating overall care.

There were 36 patients (3%) with major adverse events in the point-of-care group and 26 (2%) in the standard-care group (adjusted OR 1.31, 95% CI 0.78 to 2.20, p = 0.313). The proportion of patients ultimately diagnosed as having AMI was 82/1125 (7.3%) in the point-of-care group and 76/1118 (6.8%) in the standard-care group (p = 0.650).

Mean costs per patient were £1217 with point-of-care versus £1006 with standard care (p = 0.056), while mean QALYs were 0.158 versus 0.161 (p = 0.250). The probability of standard care being dominant (i.e. cheaper and more effective) was 0.888, whereas the probability of the point-of-care panel being dominant was 0.004.

Conclusions

Point-of-care panel assessment increases the proportion of patients successfully discharged home, leading to reduced median length of initial hospital stay, but no change in mean hospital stay or total inpatient days. Point-of-care panel assessment is associated with increased use of coronary care and may be associated with increased use of other interventions. Cost-effectiveness is mainly driven by differences in mean cost, with point estimates suggesting that point-of-care panel assessment is £211 per patient more expensive than standard care. It is unlikely to be considered cost-effective in the NHS, with a 0.888 probability that standard care is dominant.

Further research is required to identify factors that influence the effectiveness and costeffectiveness of point-of-care panel assessment, explore alternative ways of managing patients with low-risk chest pain and evaluate new cardiac biomarkers.

Trial registration

This study is registered as ISRCTN37823923.

Funding

Funding for this study was provided by the Health Technology Assessment programme of the National Institute for Health Research.

Publication

Goodacre S, Bradburn M, Fitzgerald P, Cross E, Collinson P, Gray A, et al. The RATPAC (Randomised Assessment of Treatment using Panel Assay of Cardiac markers) trial: a randomised controlled trial of point-of-care cardiac markers in the emergency department. *Health Technol Assess* 2011;**15**(23).





How to obtain copies of this and other HTA programme reports

An electronic version of this title, in Adobe Acrobat format, is available for downloading free of charge for personal use from the HTA website (www.hta.ac.uk). A fully searchable DVD is also available (see below).

Printed copies of HTA journal series issues cost £20 each (post and packing free in the UK) to both public **and** private sector purchasers from our despatch agents.

Non-UK purchasers will have to pay a small fee for post and packing. For European countries the cost is $\pounds 2$ per issue and for the rest of the world $\pounds 3$ per issue.

How to order:

- fax (with credit card details)
- post (with credit card details or cheque)
- phone during office hours (credit card only).

Additionally the HTA website allows you to either print out your order or download a blank order form.

Contact details are as follows:

Synergie UK (HTA Department) Digital House, The Loddon Centre Wade Road Basingstoke	Email: orders@hta.ac.uk
	Tel: 0845 812 4000 – ask for 'HTA Payment Services' (out-of-hours answer-phone service)
Hants RG24 8QW	Fax: 0845 812 4001 - put 'HTA Order' on the fax header

Payment methods

Paying by cheque

If you pay by cheque, the cheque must be in **pounds sterling**, made payable to *University of Southampton* and drawn on a bank with a UK address.

Paying by credit card

You can order using your credit card by phone, fax or post.

Subscriptions

NHS libraries can subscribe free of charge. Public libraries can subscribe at a reduced cost of £100 for each volume (normally comprising 40–50 titles). The commercial subscription rate is £400 per volume (addresses within the UK) and £600 per volume (addresses outside the UK). Please see our website for details. Subscriptions can be purchased only for the current or forthcoming volume.

How do I get a copy of HTA on DVD?

Please use the form on the HTA website (www.hta.ac.uk/htacd/index.shtml). *HTA on DVD* is currently free of charge worldwide.

The website also provides information about the HTA programme and lists the membership of the various committees.

NIHR Health Technology Assessment programme

The Health Technology Assessment (HTA) programme, part of the National Institute for Health Research (NIHR), was set up in 1993. It produces high-quality research information on the effectiveness, costs and broader impact of health technologies for those who use, manage and provide care in the NHS. 'Health technologies' are broadly defined as all interventions used to promote health, prevent and treat disease, and improve rehabilitation and long-term care.

The research findings from the HTA programme directly influence decision-making bodies such as the National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE) and the National Screening Committee (NSC). HTA findings also help to improve the quality of clinical practice in the NHS indirectly in that they form a key component of the 'National Knowledge Service'.

The HTA programme is needs led in that it fills gaps in the evidence needed by the NHS. There are three routes to the start of projects.

First is the commissioned route. Suggestions for research are actively sought from people working in the NHS, from the public and consumer groups and from professional bodies such as royal colleges and NHS trusts. These suggestions are carefully prioritised by panels of independent experts (including NHS service users). The HTA programme then commissions the research by competitive tender.

Second, the HTA programme provides grants for clinical trials for researchers who identify research questions. These are assessed for importance to patients and the NHS, and scientific rigour.

Third, through its Technology Assessment Report (TAR) call-off contract, the HTA programme commissions bespoke reports, principally for NICE, but also for other policy-makers. TARs bring together evidence on the value of specific technologies.

Some HTA research projects, including TARs, may take only months, others need several years. They can cost from as little as £40,000 to over £1 million, and may involve synthesising existing evidence, undertaking a trial, or other research collecting new data to answer a research problem.

The final reports from HTA projects are peer reviewed by a number of independent expert referees before publication in the widely read journal series *Health Technology Assessment*.

Criteria for inclusion in the HTA journal series

Reports are published in the HTA journal series if (1) they have resulted from work for the HTA programme, and (2) they are of a sufficiently high scientific quality as assessed by the referees and editors.

Reviews in *Health Technology Assessment* are termed 'systematic' when the account of the search, appraisal and synthesis methods (to minimise biases and random errors) would, in theory, permit the replication of the review by others.

The research reported in this issue of the journal was commissioned by the HTA programme as project number 06/302/19. The contractual start date was in April 2007. The draft report began editorial review in January 2010 and was accepted for publication in October 2010. As the funder, by devising a commissioning brief, the HTA programme specified the research question and study design. The authors have been wholly responsible for all data collection, analysis and interpretation, and for writing up their work. The HTA editors and publisher have tried to ensure the accuracy of the authors' report and would like to thank the referees for their constructive comments on the draft document. However, they do not accept liability for damages or losses arising from material published in this report.

The views expressed in this publication are those of the authors and not necessarily those of the HTA programme or the Department of Health.

Editor-in-Chief:	Professor Tom Walley CBE
Series Editors:	Dr Martin Ashton-Key, Professor Aileen Clarke, Professor Chris Hyde, Dr Tom Marshall,
	Professor John Powell, Dr Rob Riemsma and Professor Ken Stein
Associate Editor:	Dr Peter Davidson
Editorial Contact:	edit@southampton.ac.uk
ISSN 1366-5278 (Print)	
ISSN 2046-4924 (Online)	
ISSN 2046-4932 (DVD)	

© Queen's Printer and Controller of HMSO 2011. This work was produced by Goodacre *et al.* under the terms of a commissioning contract issued by the Secretary of State for Health.

This journal is a member of and subscribes to the principles of the Committee on Publication Ethics (COPE) (http://www. publicationethics.org/).

This journal may be freely reproduced for the purposes of private research and study and may be included in professional journals provided that suitable acknowledgement is made and the reproduction is not associated with any form of advertising. Applications for commercial reproduction should be addressed to: NETSCC, Health Technology Assessment, Alpha House, University of Southampton Science Park, Southampton SO16 7NS, UK.

Published by Prepress Projects Ltd, Perth, Scotland (www.prepress-projects.co.uk), on behalf of NETSCC, HTA. Printed on acid-free paper in the UK by the Charlesworth Group.